5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Curtis G. Clark, Master-in-Equity

Case No.: 2009-CP-24-01272

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001972

RECEIVED

OCT 21 2016

SC Court of Appeals

First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc.....Appellant,

vs.

Dorn Properties, Inc. and Henry A. Dorn.....Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joey R. Floyd, Bar No. 68491
Robert C. Osborne III, Bar No. 101827
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
P.O. Box 61110
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 252-7693
Attorneys for Appellant
First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT A DEBTOR'S VOLUNTARY, POST-JUDGMENT CONTRIBUTIONS TO INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO EXECUTION BY A CREDITOR, WHERE THE DEBTOR, HAVING FULL KNOWLEDGE OF THE JUDGMENT AGAINST HIM AND CLAIMING TO HAVE NO ASSETS WHICH COULD BE APPLIED TO THE JUDGMENT, CONTRIBUTED MORE THAN \$68,000.00 TO HIS INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS AFTER THE JUDGMENTS WERE FILED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 3, 2010, Appellant, First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc. ("Appellant" or "First Citizens"), obtained a deficiency judgment in the amount of \$149,665.92 against Respondents, Dorn Properties, Inc. ("DPI") and Henry A. Dorn ("Dorn") (Dorn Properties, Inc. and Henry A. Dorn are collectively referred to hereinafter as "Respondents"). (R. p. ____). To date, Respondents have made no payments towards the judgment. (R. p. ____). A supplemental proceedings hearing was held on March 24, 2015. (R. p. ____). Based upon testimony at the hearing and through discovery, First Citizens discovered that, in spite of owing First Citizens in excess of \$149,665.92, Dorn had, individually and through his employer, a business of which he is an owner, contributed \$71,626.54 to Individual Retirement Account number 2691-3891 at Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc. (the "IRA") after the judgment in favor of First Citizens was filed. (R. p. ____). \$3,516.48 of the \$71,626.54 was rolled over from an IRA at Park Sterling Bank. (R. p. ____). Thus, Dorn voluntarily contributed \$68,110.06 to his IRA account after the judgment held by First Citizen was filed against him. (R. p. ____).

At the supplemental proceedings hearing, First Citizens moved to set aside Dorn's post judgment contributions to his IRA. (R. p. ____). The Court declined to rule on the issue during the hearing and requested that the parties submit briefs. (R. p. ____). On June 2, 2016, First

Citizens filed a Motion to Set Aside and Execute on Post-Judgment Contributions by Henry A. Dorn to IRA Accounts along with a memorandum in support of its motion. (R. p. ___). Thereafter, Dorn filed a memorandum in opposition to First Citizen's motion. (R. p. ___). On July 19, 2016, the parties again appeared before the Honorable Curtis G. Clark for a hearing on First Citizen's motions to execute on Dorn's post judgment contributions to his IRA account. (R. p. ___). Upon hearing the arguments of counsel, the Master-In-Equity denied First Citizen's motion. (R. p. ___). The Court issued an order denying the motion on September 9, 2016. (R. p. ___). First Citizens filed its Notice of Appeal challenging Judge Clark's ruling on September 21, 2016. (R. p. ___).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 3, 2010, Appellant, First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc. ("Appellant" or "First Citizens"), obtained a deficiency judgment in the amount of \$149,665.92 against Respondents. Respondents have made no payments towards the judgment. On March 24, 2015, a supplemental proceedings hearing was held before the Honorable Curtis G. Clark. During the hearing, Dorn testified that he held an IRA with Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., Inc. Dorn testified that he believed the balance of the IRA to be approximately \$162,000.00 at the time of the hearing. (R. p. ___). Through testimony and discovery, it was discovered that Dorn made minimal contributions to his IRA in 2010 and 2015. (R. p. ___). However, from 2011 to 2014, Dorn made a substantial contribution to his IRA each year. (R. p. ___). In 2011, Dorn contributed slightly less than the maximum amount allowed by law to his IRA. (R. p. ___). From 2012 to 2014, Dorn testified that he had contributed the maximum amount allowed by law to his IRA. (R. p. ___). In total, Dorn and/or his employer, contributed more than \$68,000.00 to his IRA after

the judgment was filed against him.¹ (R. p. ___). During that same period, Dorn made no payments towards the judgment in favor of First Citizens. (R. p. ___).

Following the supplemental proceedings hearing and after the exchange of discovery, First Citizens filed a Motion to Set Aside and Execute on Post-Judgment Contributions by Henry A. Dorn to his IRA Accounts. (R. p. ___). Both side submitted briefs to the Court addressing the issue. (R. p. ___). On July 19, 2016, the parties appeared before the Honorable Curtis G. Clark for a hearing on First Citizen's motion. (R. p. ___). The hearing was consolidated with another matter involving the same legal question—whether voluntary, post-judgment contributions to an IRA by a judgment debtor are exempt from the creditor process?² The Court heard arguments from both parties and denied First Citizens' motion from the bench. (R. p. ___). In the Order denying the motion, Judge Clark ruled that South Carolina provides broad protection to IRAs from judgment creditors. (R. p. ___). Judge Clark further ruled that contributions to an IRA by a judgment debtor should only be set aside when the debtor contributes more than the maximum amount allowed by law or where a debtor contributes a non-exempt asset into an IRA in order to preclude that assets from execution by a judgment creditor. (R. p. ___). This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to set aside a fraudulent conveyance under the Statute of Elizabeth is an equitable action, and a de novo standard of review applies. *Oskin v. Johnson*, 400 S.C. 390, 397, 735 S.E.2d 459, 463 (2012) (citing *Future Group, II*, 324 S.C. at 97 n. 6, 478 S.E.2d at 49 n. 6).

¹ It should be noted that Dorn is self-employed. (R. p. ___). In 2010, Dorn co-founded Dorn, Dempsey & Associates, Inc. (R. p. ___). As a co-owner of the business, Dorn has significant control over the amount it contributes to his individual IRA each year.

² The other matter is *First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc. v. KSD, Inc., et al.*, Civil Action No. 2009-CP-24-1019. The only difference in the two cases is the amount contributed to the IRA by the respective debtors. (R. p. ___).

ARGUMENTS

First Citizens requests that this Court reverse the Master-in-Equity's holding that Dorn's voluntary, post-judgment contributions to his IRAs are not subject to execution.

I. BECAUSE S.C. CODE § 15-41-30(A)(13) ONLY EXEMPTS PRE-JUDGMENT CONTRIBUTIONS TO AN IRA AND SPECIFICALLY EXCLUDES FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES, THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT DORN'S VOLUNTARY, POST-JUDGMENT CONTRIBUTIONS TO HIS IRA ACCOUNTS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO EXECUTION.

A. Because S.C. Code § 15-41-30(A)(13) provides that "[t]he interest of an individual under a retirement plan shall be exempt from creditor process to the same extent permitted in 11 U.S.C § 522(d) under federal bankruptcy law", only pre-judgment contributions to an IRA and any earnings accruing from those pre-judgment contributions are exempt from the creditor process.

A judgment creditor is generally entitled to execute on the assets of a debtor. However, debtors are entitled to exempt certain assets. *See* S.C. Code § 15-41-30. These exemptions are commonly referred to as homestead exemptions and cover various types of property. *Id.* One homestead exemption provides a limited exemption for a debtor's interest in certain types of retirement accounts, including IRAs. That exemption, S.C. Code § 15-41-30(A)(13) (hereinafter referred to as the "homestead exemption"), states:

The following real and personal property of a debtor domiciled in this State is exempt from attachment, levy and sale under any mesne or final process issued by a court or bankruptcy proceeding:

The debtor's right to receive individual retirement accounts as described in Sections 408(a) and 408A of the Internal Revenue Code, individual retirement annuities as described in Section 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, and accounts established as part of a trust described in Section 408(c) of the Internal Revenue Code. **A claimed exemption may be reduced or eliminated by the amount of a fraudulent conveyance into the individual retirement account or other plan.** For purposes of this item, "Internal Revenue Code" has the meaning provided in Section 12-

6-40(A). **The interest of an individual under a retirement plan shall be exempt from creditor process to the same extent permitted in Section 522(d) under federal bankruptcy law** and is an exception to Section 15-41-35. The exemption provided by this section shall be available whether such individual has an interest in the retirement plan as a participant, beneficiary, contingent annuitant, alternate payee, or otherwise. (emphasis added).

The homestead exemption provides that “[t]he interest of an individual under a retirement plan shall be exempt from the creditor process **to the same extent permitted in section 522(d) under federal bankruptcy law....**” *Id.* Therefore, determining the scope the homestead exemption requires that this Court look to federal bankruptcy law for guidance.

The procedure used to determine what exemptions and the amount of each exemption a debtor is entitled to is well established. When a debtor files for bankruptcy, a bankruptcy estate is created that includes all of the debtor’s interest in property and/or assets. *See In re Peterson*, 897 F.2d 935, 936 (8th Cir. 1990); *see also* 11 U.S.C. § 541. However, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 522, debtors may exempt certain property from becoming part of the bankruptcy estate. A debtor claims exemptions by filing a list of exempt property at the time the bankruptcy petition is filed. *See In re Peterson*, 897 F.2d at 936 (emphasis added).

“The [United States] Supreme Court has long held that exemptions are determined on the bankruptcy filing date.” *In re O’Brien*, 443 B.R. 117, 130 (Bankr. W.D. Mich. 2011) (citing *White v. Stump*, 266 U.S. 310, 45 S.Ct. 103 (1924); *see also Owen v. Owen*, 500 U.S. 305, 314 n. 6, 111 S.Ct. 1833, 1841 n. 6 (1991) (stating the proper date for determining whether an exemption exists is the date of filing of the bankruptcy petition). State courts have also consistently recognized this rule. *See e.g., In re Tetreault*, 11 A.3d 635, 642 (R.I. 2011) (“It is well established in bankruptcy law that a debtor’s exemptions are determined as of the date of filing of the bankruptcy petition.”). Therefore, the property that a debtor is entitled to exempt is

determined solely by the property held by that debtor on the date of filing. Stated another way, “bankruptcy exemptions are fixed on the date of filing.” *In re Peterson*, 897 F.2d at 937. A debtor who files for bankruptcy is not entitled to take exemptions throughout the bankruptcy process.

The language of 11 U.S.C § 522(d)(12) (referred to hereinafter as “section 522(d)(12)”) also plainly indicates that it is only meant to exempt assets contributed to an IRA prior to the date that the bankruptcy petition is filed. 11 U.S.C. § 522(d)(12) states that a debtor may exempt “retirement funds to the extent that those funds are in a fund or account that is exempt from taxation under section 401, 403, 408, 408A, 414, 457, or 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986” from becoming part of the bankruptcy estate. The use of the phrase “to the extent that those funds are in a fund or account” shows that Congress only intended to exempt funds which are already “in” a retirement fund or account. Noticeably absent is any mention of the exemption applying to future contributions.

Given the well-established practice of determining bankruptcy exemptions on the date of filing and the language of section 522(d)(12), it is clear that section 522(d)(12) only protects funds which are held in the account on the day that the bankruptcy petition is filed. Section 522(d)(12) does not permit a debtor to file bankruptcy, take an initial exemption on the filing date and then continue to make contributions to an IRA throughout the bankruptcy process. Allowing a debtor to continue to make contributions during bankruptcy would frustrate the entire purpose of filing. Almost undoubtedly, a debtor would continue to contribute funds to the IRA rather than working to get out of bankruptcy.

The homestead exemption’s reference to section 522(d) supports First Citizens’ position that the homestead exemption only exempts Dorn’s pre-judgment contributions to his IRA and

any earnings from those pre-judgment contributions. Because section 522(d)(12) only exempts funds which have been contributed to an IRA up to the date that a debtor files bankruptcy and because the homestead exemption provides that IRAs are exempt “from the creditor process to the same extent permitted in section 522(d)...”, it follows that only a debtor’s pre-judgment contributions and any accrued earnings thereon are exempt from creditors. S.C. Code 15-41-30(A)(13). The homestead exemption does not protect post-judgment contributions to an IRA. The same logic and reasoning which prohibits a debtor who files for bankruptcy from contributing to an IRA throughout the bankruptcy process should be applied to situations where a debtor is indebted to his creditors but chooses not to file for bankruptcy.

- B. Because S.C. Code § 15-41-30(A)(13) prohibits a debtor from making fraudulent conveyances designed to delay, hinder or defraud creditors, the Master-In-Equity erred in determining that Dempsey’s voluntary, post-judgment contributions to his IRAs are not subject to execution.

While the homestead exemption provides that a debtor’s interest in an IRA is generally exempt from creditors, the exemption also states that “[a] claimed exemption may be reduced or eliminated by the amount of a fraudulent conveyance into the individual retirement account or other plan.” S.C. Code 15-41-30(A)(13). This caveat shows that although the statute is designed to protect debtors to a certain extent, the legislature did not intend to create a blanket exemption. The legislature envisioned situations where a debtor’s use of the exemption would constitute fraud upon his creditors.

In determining what constitutes a “fraudulent conveyance”, South Carolina courts look to S.C. Code 27-23-10 (hereinafter referred to as “the Statute of Elizabeth”) and related case law. The Statute of Elizabeth states that:

Every gift, grant, alienation, bargain, transfer, and conveyance of lands, tenements, or hereditaments, goods and chattels or any of them, or of any lease, rent, commons, or other profit or charge

out of the same, by writing or otherwise, and every bond, suit, judgment, and execution which may be had or **made to or for any intent or purpose to delay, hinder, or defraud creditors and others of their just and lawful actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures must be deemed and taken** (only as against that person or persons, his or their heirs, successors, executors, administrators and assigns, and every one of them whose actions, suits, debts, accounts, damages, penalties, and forfeitures by guileful, covinous, or fraudulent devices and practices are, must, or might be in any ways disturbed, hindered, delayed, or defrauded) **to be clearly and utterly void, frustrate and of no effect, any pretense, color, feigned consideration, expressing of use, or any other matter or thing to the contrary notwithstanding.** (emphasis added).

S.C. Code § 27-23-10. In *Durham v. Blackard*, this Court, interpreting the Statute of Elizabeth, held that conveyances can be set aside in two instances:

First, where the challenged transfer was made for a valuable consideration, it will be set aside if the plaintiff establishes that (1) the transfer was made by the grantor with the actual intent of defrauding his creditors; (2) the grantor was indebted at the time of the transfer; and (3) the grantor's intent is imputable to the grantee. **Second, where the transfer was not made on a valuable consideration, no actual intent to hinder or delay creditors must be proven. Instead, as a matter of equity, the transfer will be set aside if the plaintiff shows that (1) the grantor was indebted to him at the time of the transfer; (2) the conveyance was voluntary; and (3) the grantor failed to retain sufficient property to pay the indebtedness to the plaintiff in full-not merely at the time of the transfer, but in the final analysis when the creditor seeks to collect his debt.**

313 S.C. 432, 437, 438 S.E.2d 259, 262 (Ct. App. 1993) (emphasis added).

Here, First Citizens need not prove “actual intent to hinder or delay creditors” because the transfers at issue were not based upon valuable consideration. See *Mathis v. Burton*, 319 S.C. 261, 264-65, 460 S.E.2d, 406, 408 (Ct. App. 1995). Rather, First Citizens must only show that (1) Dorn was indebted to First Citizens at the time of the contributions at issue; (2) Dorn’s

contributions were voluntary, i.e., based upon no consideration or upon nominal consideration; and (3) Dorn failed to retain sufficient funds to satisfy the judgment against him. *See id*; *see also First State Sav. And Loan Ass'n v. Nodine*, 291 S.C. 445, 450, 354 S.E.2d 51, 54 (1987) (“A conveyance made upon a mere nominal consideration or without consideration is ‘voluntary.’”).

All of the funds First Citizens seeks to execute upon were contributed to Dorn’s IRAs after the judgment was entered against him on August 3, 2010. As such, it is undisputed that Dorn was indebted to First Citizens at the time of the contributions at issue. As to the second element in *Mathis*, there was no consideration for the transfer of the money from Dorn to his IRAs. Under South Carolina law, “consideration...may consist either in some right, interest, profit or benefit **accruing to one party**, or some forbearance, detriment, loss, or responsibility given, suffered, or **undertaken by the other.**” *Furman Univ. v. Waller*, 124 S.C. 68,---, 117 S.E. 356, 358 (1923) (emphasis added). The definition of consideration set forth in *Waller* clearly shows that that consideration involves two separate parties. Here, Dorn neither received a benefit nor suffered a detriment because he did nothing more than move money from one pocket to another in an effort to protect his assets (i.e., cash) from his judgment creditors. Dorn was in the exact same position before and after the transfers to his IRAs. His assets were simply in a different account.

Furthermore, “where a conveyance to a family member or close relative is attacked on account of its voluntary character, the law imposes a duty of the transferee to establish both a valuable consideration and the bona fides of the transaction by clear and convincing evidence.” *Nodine*, 291 S.C. at 450, 354 S.E.2d at 54 (citing *Coleman v. Daniel*, 261 S.C. 198, 199 S.E.2d 74 (1973)). Here, the transfer involved only one person—Dorn. When a debtor transfers assets from one account into another account controlled by the same debtor, the transfer should be

scrutinized in the same manner as a transfer to a “family member or close relative.” *See id.* As such, the burden of proving that the transfer was supported by consideration shifts to Dorn. Dorn introduced no evidence demonstrating the contributions to his IRA were based upon consideration.

The final element set forth in *Mathis* is that the debtor fails to retain sufficient funds to satisfy his debts. *See Mathis*, 319 S.C. at 266, 460 S.E.2d at 408. This element easily established by the fact that Dorn has not paid a single dollar towards the judgment. Regardless of whether Dorn is unable to the pay the judgments or he has simply chosen not to pay the judgment, the fact remains that First Citizens has not been paid the debt they are rightfully owed. Accordingly, Because the evidence shows that (1) Dorn was indebted to First Citizens at the time of the contributions at issue; (2) the contributions were “voluntary”, i.e., not supported by valuable consideration; and (3) Dorn has failed to retain sufficient funds to satisfy the judgments, the Master-In-Equity erred in determining that Dorn’s post-judgment transfers to his IRAs are not subject to execution.

If this Court finds that the post-judgment contributions were supported by consideration, Dorn’s post-judgment contributions are still subject to execution. Under South Carolina law, if the transfers at issue were supported by consideration, the transfers should be set aside if it is shown that the transfers were (1) made by the grantor with the actual intent of defrauding his creditors; (2) the grantor was indebted at the time of the transfer; and (3) the grantor's intent is imputable to the grantee. *See Durham*, 313 S.C. at 437, 438 S.E.2d at 262. As discussed above, it is undisputed that Dorn was indebted to First Citizens when the contributions at issue were made. The issue of whether the grantor’s intent is imputable to the grantee is irrelevant because Dorn is both the grantor and the grantee. Therefore, if this Court finds that there was

consideration for the transfers, the only real issue for the court is whether Lindgren's post-judgment contributions were made with the "intent of defrauding his creditors." *See id*

In determining whether a debtor acted with the requisite intent to establish a fraudulent conveyance, South Carolina courts evaluate the particular circumstances of the transfer for "badges of fraud." *See Coleman v. Daniel*, 261 S.C. 198, 209, 199 S.E.2d 74, 79 (1973) ("Certain circumstances so frequently attend conveyances to defraud creditors that they are recognized and referred to as 'badges of fraud.' The badges tend to excite suspicions as to the Bona fides of a challenged conveyance."); *In re Maryland Prop. Associates, Inc.*, 309 F. App'x 737, 753 (4th Cir. 2009). In *Coleman*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina stated the following regarding the badges of fraud:

The facts which are recognized indicia of fraud are numerous, and no court could pretend to anticipate or catalog them all. Among the generally recognized badges of fraud are the insolvency or indebtedness of the transferor, lack of consideration for the conveyance, relationship between the transferor and the transferee, the pendency or threat of litigation, secrecy or concealment, departure from the usual method of business, the transfer of the debtor's entire estate, the reservation of benefit to the transferor, and the retention by the debtor of possession of the property.

Id. (citing 37 Am.Jur.(2d), Fraudulent Conveyances, § 10 (1968)). The circumstances of Dorn's post-judgment contributions to his IRAs meet at least six of the nine badges of fraud listed above.³ "Although the presence of a single factor, i.e., badge of fraud, may cast suspicion on the transferor's intent, the confluence of several in one transaction generally provides conclusive evidence of an actual intent to defraud." *Gilchinsky v. Nat'l Westminster Bank*, 732 A.2d 482, 490 (1999). Here, Dorn (1) was indebted to First Citizens at the time of the contributions; (2)

³ One of the badges of fraud satisfied is lack of consideration. First Citizens takes the position that the contributions at issue were not made on valuable consideration. *See supra* pp. 12-13. However, as this section of the brief assumes, *arguendo*, that there was consideration, First Citizens will only address the other badges of fraud that are present.

transferred the funds to himself, the person with whom he clearly has the closest relationship, (3) made the contributions while First Citizens was actively pursuing the judgment, (4) reserved the benefit of the funds to himself, and (5) retained possession of the funds. The presence of these badges of fraud surrounding Dorn's post-judgment contributions reveals Dorn's actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud First Citizens from collecting the judgments.

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