THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Curtis G. Clark, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-001972

First Citizens Bank and Trust Company, Inc. Appellant,

v.

Dorn Properties, Inc. and Henry A. Dorn Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED
JAN 25 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Thomas E. Lydon
McAngus, Goudelock & Courie, LLC
1320 Main Street, 10th Floor
Post Office Box 12519
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

Attorney for Respondents

RECEIVED
JAN 25 2017
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE SOUTH CAROLINA EXEMPTION STATUTE PROTECTS BOTH PRE-JUDGMENT AND POST-JUDGMENT ASSETS FROM ATTACHMENT OR EXECUTION BY JUDGMENT CREDITORS.

- A. Section 15-41-30(A)(13) of the South Carolina Code exempts both pre-judgment and post-judgment contributions to an IRA from execution or attachment, and this exemption is recognized by and consistent with United States bankruptcy law.

Appellant first argues that the language of Section 15-41-30(A)(13) which provides that “the interest of an individual under a retirement plan shall be exempt from creditor process to the same extent permitted in Section 522(d) under federal bankruptcy law” should be interpreted to preclude protection for post-judgment contributions to an IRA. However, this argument ignores the plain language of Section 522(d) of the Bankruptcy Code and misstates the operation of bankruptcy law regarding exemptions.

Appellant suggests that, under bankruptcy law, assets acquired by a judgment debtor after filing bankruptcy are not protected by exemption statutes. However, established law is to the contrary. As recently explained in a unanimous decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Harris v. Viegelaahn*, 575 U.S. ___ (2015), bankruptcy allows an individual to make a clean break from his financial past. When a debtor files bankruptcy, his non-exempt assets form a bankruptcy estate, which are liquidated and distributed to creditors. Crucially, however, the estate “does not include the wages a debtor earns or assets he acquires *after* the bankruptcy filing....he is able to make a ‘fresh start’ by shielding from creditors his postpetition earnings and acquisitions.” 575 U.S. at ____ (emphasis in opinion). Thus, under bankruptcy law, the assets acquired by a judgment debtor after bankruptcy are not subject to the claims of creditors.

With regard to the specific language of Section 522(d) of the Bankruptcy Code, the

subsection applicable to retirement accounts states that retirement funds are exempt “to the extent that those funds are in a fund or account that is exempt from taxation under section 401, 403, 408, 408A, 414, 457, or 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986.” 11 U.S.C. Section 522(d)(3). The inclusion of the reference to Section 522(d) in the South Carolina statute is to make it clear that the exemption for retirement accounts is not limited to the IRA accounts described in the first three sentences of subsection (13). The exemption also extends to other tax exempt retirement accounts recognized under federal law, such as 401(k) plans.

Finally, Appellant’s argument that bankruptcy law prohibits the application of the exemption statute to post-judgment assets was not raised in the lower court. It was not mentioned in either Appellant’s Motion to Set Aside and Execute on Post-Judgment Contributions or in its Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside and Execute on Post-Judgment Contributions. The only argument presented to the Master in Equity was that post-judgment contributions to an IRA are fraudulent conveyances. It is well-established that an argument raised on appeal that is based on different grounds from the argument presented to the lower court is not preserved for appeal. *Creighton v. Coligny Plaza Ltd. P’ship*, 334 S.C. 96, 108, 512 S.E.2d 510, 516 (Ct. App. 1998) (issue not preserved because the trial judge never ruled on the grounds the [plaintiffs] raise on appeal).

The reference to Section 522(d) of the Bankruptcy Code in Section 15-41-30(A)(13) in no way limits the protection of an IRA from execution by judgment creditors. Moreover, this argument was not presented to the Master in Equity.

B. The Master in Equity correctly determined that post-judgment contributions to an IRA are not fraudulent conveyances.

Appellant’s next argument is that all post-judgment contributions by a judgment debtor to

an IRA are fraudulent conveyances and subject to execution by a judgment creditor. However, this argument ignores both the established law regarding what constitutes a fraudulent conveyance and the legislative history of the statute that exempts an IRA from execution.

The only limitation on the exemption for an IRA is that the exemption “may be reduced or eliminated by the amount of a fraudulent conveyance into the individual retirement account...” S.C. Code Section 15-41-30(A)(13) (Supp. 2015). Although no South Carolina appellate courts have addressed what constitutes a fraudulent conveyance into an IRA, it seems that this limitation would likely apply in two circumstances. The first circumstance would arise if the debtor made contributions to his IRA that exceeded the amount allowed under federal law. The second circumstance could arise where a debtor contributed a non-exempt asset into an IRA in order to protect it from attachment. With regard to exempt assets, the South Carolina Supreme has previously held that transfer of an exempt asset, even for no consideration, is not a fraudulent conveyance. *See McNair v. Morton*, 64 S.C. 82, 41 S.E. 829 (1902).

By way of example, if a debtor maintained an ordinary savings account at a bank and he transferred those funds into an IRA to avoid attachment by a judgment creditor, it could be argued that such transfer was a fraudulent conveyance. However, it should be noted that many courts have held that the conversion of non-exempt property to exempt property is not a fraudulent conveyance. *See, e.g., Wudrick v. Clements*, 451 F.2d 988 (9th Cir. 1971); *In re Thomas*, 2012 WL 2792348 (Idaho Bankr. 2012); *see also*, House Report of Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, H.R. REP. NO. 95-595, at 361 (1977) (“As under current law, the debtor will be permitted to convert nonexempt property into exempt property before filing a bankruptcy petition. The practice is not fraudulent as to creditors, and permits the debtor to make full use of the exemptions to which he is entitled under the law.”).

Neither of the two circumstances described above applies in this case. First, Dorn's contributions to the SIMPLE IRA have never exceeded the maximum amount allowed by federal law. Second, an individual's earnings for his personal services are not subject to attachment or garnishment in South Carolina. *See* S.C. Code §15-39-410. Therefore, the funds that are being contributed to the SIMPLE IRA by Dorn are not subject to attachment by Appellant and thus the contribution is not a fraudulent conveyance.

Appellant cites several cases in support of its position that post-judgment contributions to an IRA are fraudulent conveyances. However, the facts in all of the cases cited by Appellant are distinguishable from those in the present case. First, all of those cases involved the conveyance of an asset to a third-party. In this case, there has been no transfer to a third-party. The IRA is in the name of and owned by Henry Dorn. Therefore, there has been no conveyance by Dorn.

Second, all of the cases cited by Appellant involved the transfer of assets, that were subject to attachment by the judgment creditor. Here, the wages used by Dorn to fund the IRA were not subject to attachment by Appellant. As previously noted, the transfer of an exempt asset, even for no consideration, is not a fraudulent conveyance *See McNair v. Morton*, 64 S.C. 82, 41 S.E. 829 (1902). Thus, the cases relied on by Appellant in support of this argument are not applicable to the facts in this case.

Finally, if Appellant's argument is accepted, then all post-judgment contributions to an IRA by a judgment debtor would be treated as fraudulent conveyances. However, if that is what the South Carolina legislature intended, then it could have simply written that limitation into the statute. Instead, the legislative history of the statute and the recent amendment to it confirm the the legislature's intent to offer broad protection to Individual Retirement Accounts from the claims of judgment creditors, regardless of the size of the account.

Prior to 1999, the South Carolina exemption statute, Section 15-41-30 of the South Carolina Code, did not contain a specific exemption for an IRA. As a result, in 1987 the South Carolina Court of Appeals had held that Individual Retirement Accounts were not exempt from attachment by judgment creditors. *Rowland v. Strickland*, 294 S.C. 119, 362 S.E.2d 892 (Ct. App. 1987). However, bankruptcy judges in South Carolina at that time had held that the subsection in the statute that provided an exemption for pensions and other retirement plans also protected an IRA from attachment. But, the bankruptcy courts had limited the exemption to individuals over the age of 59½, who had a right to receive payments under their IRA. *See In re Outen*, 220 B.R. 26 (D.S.C. 1998). Then, in the *Outen* case, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South Carolina issued an *en banc* opinion that reversed its prior decisions and held that an IRA was exempt from the claims of creditors, regardless of the age of the debtor. 220 B.R. at 31.

Apparently in an effort to confirm the *Outen* decision that an IRA is not subject to creditor's claims, the following year the South Carolina legislature revised the exemption statute to make it clear that such accounts are protected from attachment by adding the following exemption to Section 15-41-30:

The debtor's right to receive individual retirement accounts as described in Sections 408(a) and 408A of the Internal Revenue Code, individual retirement annuities as described in Section 408(b) of the Internal Revenue Code, and accounts established as part of a trust described in Section 408(c) of the Internal Revenue Code, to the extent reasonably necessary for the support of the debtor and any dependent of the debtor. A claimed exemption may be reduced or eliminated by the amount of a fraudulent conveyance into the individual retirement account or other plan. For purposes of this item, 'Internal Revenue Code' has the meaning provided in Section 12-6-40(A).

1999 S.C. Act No. 60. Then, in 2012, the legislature made the exemption broader by eliminating the limitation that an IRA is only exempt "to the extent reasonably necessary for the support of

the debtor and any dependent of the debtor.” 2012 S.C. Act No. 153. Based on the foregoing legislative history, it is clear that the South Carolina legislature intends to extend to IRAs broad protection from attachment by judgment creditors.

II. THE SOUTH CAROLINA EXEMPTION STATUTE IS TO BE CONSTRUED LIBERALLY IN FAVOR OF DEBTORS AND PROTECTS BOTH PRE-JUDGMENT AND POST-JUDGMENT CONTRIBUTIONS TO INDIVIDUAL RETIREMENT ACCOUNTS.

Appellant’s final argument asserts that judicial interpretations and the intent of the legislature support the conclusion that post-judgment contributions to an IRA are not protected from attachment by Section 15-41-30(A)(13) of the South Carolina Code. This argument, however, ignores both applicable case law and the legislative history of the statute.

Homestead exemptions do not exist under the common law, but are a uniquely American institution, having their origins in the great debtor revolution of the era of "Jacksonian democracy." 40 C.J.S. Homesteads § 3 at 175-176 (1991). The exemptions depend entirely upon constitutional and statutory provisions. *Dorn v. Stidham*, 139 S.C. 66, 137 S.E. 331 (1927). The homestead provision of the South Carolina Constitution provides that the "General Assembly shall enact such laws as will exempt real and personal property of a debtor." S.C. Const. art. III, §28. The legislature carried out this constitutional mandate under the "Homestead and Other Exemptions" statute, S.C.Code Ann. §§ 15-41-10 to -35, which provide that certain "real and personal property of a debtor domiciled in this State is exempt from attachment, levy, and sale under any mesne or final process issued by any court or bankruptcy proceeding." S.C.Code Ann. § 15-41-30 (Supp. 2015). Furthermore, it is well-settled that the exemptions provided under the statute are to be construed liberally in favor of debtors. *In re Holt*, 497 B.R. 817 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2013); *Bonebrake v. Morrow*, 183 S.C. 170, 190 S.E. 506 (1937); *see also, e.g., Holden v. Cribb*,

349 S.C. 132, 561 S.E.2d 634 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding that a judgment debtor who is incarcerated is entitled to claim a homestead exemption).

As discussed above, the recent legislative history regarding the protection of IRAs evidences the legislature's intent to provide these accounts with broad protection. The most recent amendments in 2012 eliminated the limitation that an IRA is only exempt "to the extent reasonably necessary for the support of the debtor and any dependent of the debtor" and clarified that the exemption extends to all tax exempt retirement accounts recognized under federal law. *See* 2012 S.C. Act No. 153.

Although South Carolina appellate courts have not considered the specific question of whether post-judgment contributions to an IRA are subject to attachment, the Court of Appeals has ruled on this issue in connection with other assets. In *Scholtec v. Estate of Reeves*, 327 S.C. 551, 490 S.E.2d 603 (Ct. App. 1997), a judgment had been obtained against the defendant in 1973. A number of years later, the judgment debtor/defendant agreed to a personal injury settlement in the amount of \$125,000.00. Although the settlement proceeds would have been exempt from execution pursuant to Section 15-41-30, the judgment debtor/defendant died before the settlement was paid, so the proceeds were paid into his estate. The judgment creditor then filed a claim against the estate, and the question before the Court of Appeals was whether the exemptions provided in Section 15-41-30 continued after the death of the judgment debtor.